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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
The Pincolini (Mizpah Hotel) is an early twentieth century commercial 
building erected in three stages. The original, five-bay, symmetrical 
structure was designed and constructed in 1922 by the Ward Brothers, 
aReno general contracting firm. Major additions to the hotel were 
subsequently constructed in 1925 and 1930. The resulting building is 
a three-story, ten-bay, brick commercial block incorporation ground 
floor retail space with an upper story hotel.

The Pincolini Hotel is located on the northeast corner of Lake and Second 
Streets in downtown Reno. The building is part of a mixed commercial dis­ 
trict which was developed during the first quarter of the twentieth cen­ 
tury. In addition to the Pincolini Hotel, four other commercial/hotel 
buildings are found in the area. Three of these structures are three- 
story, brick buildings similar in design to the Pincolini.

The Pincolini Hotel is a U-shaped structure supported by a rubble masonry 
foundation and terminating in a flat roof punctuated by four skylights. 
The structure is faced in textured, flemish bond brick laid with contrast­ 
ing headers and stretchers.

The first story of the hotel is divided into commercial units which are 
defined by plate glass and aluminum storefronts. A clerestory was orig­ 
inally found above the store units. This clerestory survives intact 
beneath contemporary wooden infill panels and commercial signs.

Tlae ground floor of the building is separated from the upper stories by 
a patterned brick frieze and projecting sheet metal cornice. A similar 
Horizontal division is found between the second and third stories where 
a narrow belt course bands the building. The structure terminates in a 
bracketed sheet metal cornice accented by a patterned brick frieze and 
corbelled brick entablature. The original roofline of the hotel (1922) 
includes a slightly projecting parapet which spans the central three bays 
The frieze of this parapet incorporates stamped sheet metal letters read­ 
ing "Pincolini Hotel".

The wall planes of the original building are accented by plain, brick 
pilasters which mark the entry and corners of the structure. Access to 
the upper story hotel is gained by way of a first story, central bay'* 1 
entrance which includes double, single-light, plate-glass panels. These 
double units are enframed by a simple wooden surround which also enframes 
a single light transom. The foyer to the building includes a tile mosaic 
reading "Mizpah Hotel" in the design.

Second and third story windows are one-light-over-one-light, double hung 
sash enframed by simple wooden surrounds. Window openings are accented 
by slightly projecting, brick sills and radiating, brick lintels. Lacy
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The Pincolini Hotel is significant for its historical association with 
Reno's Italian commercial district. The building is the most substan­ 
tial, intact structure surviving from the development of Reno's "Little 
Italy", an early twentieth century district which served as the center for 
Italian commercial and community activity in the city. The building is 
also significant as a well preserved example of an early twentieth cen­ 
tury, residential hotel; an architectural type which was once common to 
downtown Reno.

The development of Reno's Italian commercial community has historically 
centered along Lake Street between Second Street and Commercial Row. The 
area was noted for its commercial diversity and at one time included gro­ 
cery stores, liquor stores, insurance agencies, a travel agency and hot­ 
els. The Pincolini Hotel was one of four>®.uc&;:'str*ietures. constructed 
in the area during the first quarter of the twentieth century. All four 
of these structures survive. The major hotel buildings constructed dur­ 
ing the period were the Columbo, the Lido and the Tuscano. Of the four 
hotels, the Pincolini is the largest, and the only one to survive in­ 
tact and in a good state of preservation.

The builders of the hotel, the Pincolini family, immigrated to Nevada 
from Parma, Italy, between 1896 and 1905. Joseph Pincolini was the first 
family member to settle in the Reno area, arriving in 1896 following a 
winter in Winnemucca, Nevada. Joseph Pincolini subsequently purchased 
the San Rafael Ranch in 1896. This property remained in the family until 
the 1920's. The Pincolini family acquired substantial agricultural acre­ 
age in northern Nevada and were among the first in northern Nevada to employ 
mechanized farming methods. Of particular note was their use of potato 
planting machines which enabled the Pincolini's to realize substantial pro­ 
fits from the crop.

The four Pincolini brothers, Joseph, Evaristo, Adelvaldo and Dante, fi­ 
nanced the construction of the Pincolini Hotel from their agricultural 
profits. The 1927 edition of the Bolletino del Nevada described the 
hotel as "the most unique modern hotel in the state of Nevada". An ad­ 
vertisement in Polk's Reno City Directory the following year described 
the building as ". . . the most comfortable hotel in the state". Among 
the Pincolini's services were "cold, pure spring water in every room. 
Steam heat, hot water, private baths and apartments".
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grills vent the attic story on the 1930 addition. , The addition is also 
highlighted by a circa 1930 neon and enamel sign which projects over the 
corner of Lake and Second Streets.

The interior of the building retains its original plan as well as many of 
its original decorative elements. The ground floor lobby is sheathed in 
original pine panelling which is grained to simulate oak. The original 
lobby flooring survives intact beneath contemporary carpeting. Original 
lobby fixtures include the lobby desk and the Reno Electrical Works "ring­ 
ing board" which dates from the first telephone system.

Access to the upper levels of the building is gained by way of the original 
pine central staircase which retains its original configuration and sky­ 
light. This stair has been boxed-in to conform with fire safety require­ 
ments .

Of the hotel's 110 rooms, 20 are dry rooms (no baths), 68 rooms include 
baths, and 22 rooms include kitchenettes. All rooms include pine doors 
with transoms accented by simple shelf moldings. The 1930 addition to 
the building incorporates bathroom transoms in place of door transoms. 
Some of the room transoms have been covered to comply with fire code re­ 
quirements . All transoms survive intact.

Interior finishes include plain plaster walls accented by simple pine 
baseboards and picture moldings. Several of the hotel rooms retain their 
original furnishings; iron beds, pine dressers and night stands.

The Pincolini Building is representative of Reno hotels constructed during 
the 1920 ! s and 1930's. The building's original design survives intact and 
the structure is in excellent condition.
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The Pincolini family continues to own and operate the Pincolini Hotel. The 
family also remains a social, political and economic force in Reno's Italian 
community.

The design of the Pincolini is characteristic of the functional, residential 
hotels which were once common to the city of Reno. These structures, which 
combined first floor commercial space with upper story hotels:, have^been^ 
replaced by contemporary casino/hotels in Reno's downtown core. The Pincolini 
is unique as an example of Reno's pre-gaming hotel architecture which has 
survived intact and retains a high degree of architectural integrity.


